2000

# Joseph W. Rohan v. Chad Boseman, Jerald Boseman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(4) (1996 as amended).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

1. The trial court erred as a matter of law when it violated the provisions of Title II of the Americans With Disabilities Act, and Rohan's due process and equal protection rights as guaranteed by the both the Constitution of the United States and the Utah Constitution when it refused to grant a continuance or voluntary dismissal and dismissed his case with prejudice, after Mr. Rohan had made a prima facie showing that he was a qualified individual with a disability under the ADA.

### **Standard of review:**

The appropriate standard of review for a trial court's interpretation of statutes, rules and ordinances is a question of law reviewed for correctness. Rushton v Salt Lake County. 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999).

The issue was preserved for review in Plaintiff's Motion for Voluntary Dismissal, Plaintiff's Renewed Motion for Voluntary Dismissal or Alternatively Motion to Continue Trial Setting to Consider Plaintiff's Claims Under the ADA and Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59 or Alternatively Motion to Amend.

2. The trial court erred as a matter of law, and abused its discretion when

it denied Rohan's motions for voluntary dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(a)(2) after Mr. Rohan had made a prima facie showing that he was a qualified individual with a disability under the ADA. The trial court erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion when it dismissed Rohan's case with prejudice pursuant to Rule 41(b).

#### Standard of Review

The appropriate standard of review for determining whether the trial court properly denied Rohan's first motion for voluntary dismissal is abuse of discretion.

The appropriate standard of review for determining whether the trial court properly denied Rohan's second motion for voluntary dismissal after he had established he was a qualified individual with a disability under the ADA, presents a mixed question of law and fact to the court. Factual questions are to be reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard and legal questions under the correctness standard. Jefferies v. Stubbins, 970 P.2d 1234, 1244 (Utah 1999), State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936-9 (Utah 1994). "A district court by definition abuses its discretion when it makes an error of law." Koon v. United States, 518 U.S. 81, 100, 116 (1996).

The appropriate standard of review for determining whether the trial court properly dismissed Mr. Rohan's case pursuant to Rule 41(b) is a question of law reviewed for correctness. Southern Title Guar. Co. v. Bethers, 761 P.2d 951, 954 (Utah App.1988).

The issue was preserved for review in Plaintiff's Motion for Voluntary

Dismissal, Plaintiff's Renewed Motion for Voluntary Dismissal or Alternatively Motion to Continue Trial Setting to Consider Plaintiff's Claims Under the ADA, and Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59 or Alternatively Motion to Amend.

3. The trial court erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion in contravention of Rule 40(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, when it denied Rohan's first and second motions for a continuance.

Standard of review:

The appropriate standard of review for determining whether the trial court properly denied Rohan's first motion for a continuance is abuse of discretion.

Trial courts have substantial discretion in deciding whether to grant continuances, Christenson v. Jewkes, 761 P.2d 1375, 1377 (Utah 1988), and their decision will not be overturned unless that discretion has been clearly abused, see State v. Cabututan, 861 P.2d 408, 413 (Utah 1993). An abuse of discretion may be found if a party has "made timely objections, [has] given necessary notice, and has made a reasonable effort to have the trial date changed for good cause." Id. Brown v. Glover, 16 P.3d 540, 548-9 (Utah 2000).

The appropriate standard of review for determining whether the trial court properly denied Rohan's second motion for a continuance after Rohan had made a prima facie showing that he was a qualified individual with a disability under the ADA

is correction of error.

"A district court by definition abuses its discretion when it makes an error of law." Koon v. United States, 518 U.S. 81, 100, 116 (1996).

The issues were preserved for review in Plaintiff's Motion for Voluntary Dismissal, Plaintiff's Renewed Motion for Voluntary Dismissal or Alternatively Motion to Continue Trial Setting to Consider Plaintiff's Claims Under the ADA, and Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59 or Alternatively Motion to Amend.

4. The trial Court erred as a matter of law when it denied Rohan's motions for a new trial or alternatively motion to amend when he had made a prima facie showing that he was a qualified individual with an disability under the ADA.

Standard of review:

Although a trial court has broad discretion to deny a motion for new trial, where that denial is based on questions of law, the trial court's decision is reviewed for correctness. Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch., 860 P.2d 937, 940 (Utah 1993);

The issue was preserved for review in Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59 or Alternatively Motion to Amend.

5. The trial courts award of costs and attorney fees against Mr. Rohan pursuant to U. C. A. §78-27-56 was erroneous as a matter of law.

Standard of review:

The appropriate standard of review for the award of attorney fees under section 78-27-56 requires a two step analysis. As to whether the party lacked good faith, the trial court must make a factual finding of a party's subjective intent. In addition, the trial court must conclude, as a matter of law, that the action was without merit. Pennington v. Allstate Insurance Co., 973 P.2d 932, 942 (FN 3 ) (Utah 1998).

The issue was preserved for review in Rohan's Motion for New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59.

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

The issues raised in this appeal are governed by:

- A. The Americans With Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 et. seq., (hereinafter the "ADA");
- B. Rules 40(b), 41(a)(2), 41(b), of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure;
- C. Rule 4-105 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration;
- D. U. C. A. §78-27-56.
- E. The Fourteenth Amendment to United States Constitution;
- F. Article 1 Section 7 Utah Constitution;
- G. Article 1 Section 11 Utah Constitution;
- H. Article 1 Section 24 Utah Constitution;



## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 28, 1998 Joseph Rohan (hereinafter Rohan)) brought a lawsuit against the Chad and Gerald Boseman (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Boseman”) seeking damages for injuries, including a closed head injury, sustained when a vehicle driven by Chad Boseman struck the vehicle Rohan was driving during an early morning snow storm in January 1997. Addendum Exhibit 1, Page 1 (Hereinafter A:1:1)

Initially, it appeared that the injuries sustained by Rohan consisted of a severe cervical sprain and his complaints of cognitive difficulties were attributed to effects of the cervical injury. In April 1997, after several months of treatment with little improvement in the cogitative difficulties, a brain MRI was ordered. The scan was abnormal showing changes typical of a closed head injury with axonal shearing. A CT scan of Rohan’s brain done before the accident was normal. A:23:131-133, 128

Neurological testing was also performed in May 1997 and showed Rohan was experiencing disrupted cognitive performance, with his performance being substantially below what would be expected, given his educational and vocational background. Rohan began cognitive therapy in November of 1997 and assessments done at that time indicated moderate dysfunction. A:23:134-137, 138-144.

In July of 1998 due to the sleep problems Rohan had experienced since the accident, he underwent a sleep study, which showed a severely disrupted sleep cycle with a sleep efficiency of 41% (normal is greater than 90%), and a total absence of

REM sleep, additionally measurements of his attentiveness were markedly abnormal. As a result of the sleep study Rohan was prescribed stimulant medications to maintain wakefulness. A:23:130, 145-153.

In May of 2000 shortly before the scheduled trial, testing by the neuropsychologist retained by Boseman showed Rohan was severely impaired in terms of memory skills and information processing. Although he performed better on a test of visual attention than in 1997, his visual memory remained severely impaired, i.e. below the 10% percentile. The testing also showed continued significant impairment in the his verbal memory and learning including confusion and poor mental tracking. A:23:154-164.

In August of 1998 Rohan was seen by Robert K. Rothfeder M. D., J. D., for an independent medical examination. Dr. Rothfeder found that as a result of the injuries sustained in the accident, Mr. Rohan had a 34% permanent partial impairment of the whole person. He stated that the closed head injury and posttraumatic brain injury along with the sleep disturbance had a profound affect on Rohan's activities of daily living. Dr. Rothfeder, stated that in his opinion the intellectual impairments suffered by Rohan had essentially resulted in a 100% disability with respect to the independent practice of law. A:23:165-169

After filing the lawsuit, the parties began discovery and entered into settlement negotiations. Despite the fact that the court docket reflected activity during 14 of 20

months since the complaint had been filed, the trial court ordered the parties to appear on November 18, 1999 and show cause why the case should not be dismissed for failure to prosecute. At the hearing the trial court continued its own order to show cause for 60 days for certification of readiness for trial. A:1:1, On January 19, 2000, Rohan, pursuant to the trial courts order, filed his certification of readiness for trial. A:2:12-14. On February 1, 2000 Boseman filed an objection to the certificate of readiness for trial on the basis that there was ongoing discovery that had not been completed, and Boseman requested 120 days (until June 1, 2000) to complete discovery. A:3:15. A telephone conference was held on March 2, 2000 and the trial court, without addressing the Boseman objection, scheduled the trial for June 20, 2000. A:1:1

When Rohan learned that trial was set for June 2000, he began searching for experienced trial counsel to handle his case due to the fact that Mr. Halliday & Mr. Watkins had limited jury trial experience and they did not have any experience trying a brain injury case. Rohan contacted, and signed a fee agreement, with Robert F. Orton (“Orton”) of the law firm of Fabian & Clendenin to try the case. A:5:20, A:6:24,

From March 2000 onward, Rohan’s case was handled primarily by Mr. Orton. A:24:174,184. Orton represented Rohan at supplemental depositions in March and April and examined medical records at the offices of opposing counsel in May. Approximately one week before the scheduled pretrial Orton informed Mr. Rohan that

he would not try the case because he could not have the experts he needed for trial ready by June 20, 2000. However, Orton agreed that Rohan could represent to the trial court that if he were able to secure a ninety day continuance he, Orton, would try the matter. A:6:24. Upon learning that Orton would not try the case without a continuance and with no hope of finding an attorney to try a brain injury case on such short notice, Rohan, filed a Motion for Continuance of Trial Setting, Withdrawal of Counsel, Substitution of Counsel and Enlargement of Discovery on the Friday before the final pre-trial which was scheduled the for the following Monday. This was eighteen days before the start of scheduled trial. Boseman would not stipulate to a continuance but did not oppose the motion. A:4, 5, 6.

At the pre-trial, the trial court denied Rohan's first motion for a continuance on the grounds that there was no showing of good cause and a decision to change counsel 15 days before trial is too late. A:7:27,28. On June 7, 2000, the day after the motion was denied, and knowing that Mr. Halliday and Mr. Watkins were not prepared to represent him, as they had been under the impression since March that Orton would try the case, Rohan filed a notice of discharge of his attorneys and his first motion for voluntary dismissal. A:8,9. On June 14, 2000 the trial court denied the first motion for voluntary dismissal "for the reasons specified in the opposing memorandum." A:11,41-42. On June 15, 2000, Rohan filed a Notice of Plaintiff's Inability to Bring This Matter to Trial A:12:43,44 in order to make clear to all concerned that he would not and could

not to proceed to trial and that expenditures of time and resources by Boseman and the trial court were unjustified. The next day the trial court granted the Boseman unopposed motion to exclude the testimony of one of Rohan's experts on the grounds that there was no timely opposition. A:13:

On June 19, 2000 Rohan filed his Renewed Motion for Voluntary Dismissal or Alternatively Motion to Continue Trial Setting to Consider Plaintiff's Claims under the ADA, with a supporting Affidavit, in which he made a prima facie showing that he was a qualified individual with a disability under the ADA and requested the reasonable accommodation of either a continuance to obtain counsel or voluntary dismissal. A:14,15,16. When the parties appeared on June 20, 2000, the scheduled date of the trial, Rohan's motion to continue and for voluntary dismissal pursuant to the ADA was denied. The trial court refused to make an individualized inquiry into the claim asserted by Rohan that he was a qualified individual with a disability pursuant to the ADA as required by the statute, instead the trial court "rules as stated on the record and orders this case be dismissed with prejudice for failure to prosecute. Defendants are awarded costs and fees in an amount to be determined per Rule 4-501." A:18:75-77. On July 31, 2000 the Order and Judgment against Rohan in the amount of \$7347.78 was filed A:20:1-3.

On August 7, 2000 Rohan filed a motion for New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59 or Alternatively Motion to Amend, A:21, 22, 23, again raising his claims that the ADA

had been violated. On September 28, 2000 the trial court again, without making an individualized inquiry into Rohan's claims that he was a qualified individual with a disability pursuant to the ADA, denied the motion, and issued a minute entry ruling stating, "Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial, etc. is denied for reasons specified in the opposing memorandum. Counsel for Defendant to prepare Order."A:26:237-238.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. On January 27, 1997, the Appellant, Joseph Rohan was injured in a traffic accident when a vehicle driven by Chad Boseman struck Mr. Rohan's vehicle during an early morning snowstorm in Salt Lake City. A:1:1.

2. Rohan was subsequently treated for the neck injury sustained in the accident by orthopedic surgeon William Muir M. D. In April 1997, because Rohan's headaches and cognitive problems had not improved, Muir recommended he see a neurologist.

3. He saw neurologist Robert Miska M. D., who diagnosed Rohan as having suffered a closed head injury in the accident. Dr. Miska stated, "A MRI scan done after the accident showed changes typical for closed head injury with axonal shearing . . . including atrophy disproportionate to age and some small areas of increased T2 signal." A:23:131-133

4. Dr. Miska ordered neuropsychological testing which was administered by Erin Bigler Ph.D. This testing showed disrupted cognitive performance, with Mr.

Rohan's performance being substantially below what would be expected, given his educational and vocational background. A:23:134-137

5. In November 1997 Dr. Miska referred Rohan to Mark Fox for cognitive therapy. At this time Rohan was tested with the Ross Information Processing Assessment-2, which is normed on individuals who have suffered a brain injury, his mean score of 10 represented a moderate dysfunction. Rohan received cognitive therapy for about two years. A:23:138-144.

6. In July 1998, Dr. Miska referred Rohan to the Intermountain Sleep Disorders Center to address the chronic sleep disruption that he had suffered since the accident. Mr. Rohan underwent a sleep study, which showed a severely disrupted sleep cycle with a sleep efficiency of 41% (normal is greater than 90%), and a total absence of REM, stage III & IV sleep. Additionally, measurements of the Rohan's attentiveness were markedly abnormal. As a result of this testing Rohan was diagnosed as suffering with excessive daytime sleepiness and was prescribed stimulant medications, it is anticipated he will need to take these medications indefinitely to maintain wakefulness. A:23:130, 146-48, 165.

7. On August 8, 1998 Rohan was seen by Robert K. Rothfeder M. D., for an independent medical examination. Dr. Rothfeder found that as a result of the injuries sustained in the accident Mr. Rohan had sustained a 34% permanent partial impairment of the whole person. Dr. Rothfeder noted the closed head injury and

posttraumatic brain injury along with sleep disturbance “has had a profound affect on the patient’s activities of daily living.” A:23:165-166.

8. Dr. Rothfeder is also an attorney. He stated that in was his opinion the intellectual impairments suffered by Mr. Rohan in the accident had essentially resulted in a 100% disability with respect to the independent practice of law. A:23:166.

9. After receiving Dr. Rothfeder’s report, and being concerned with his ethical responsibilities, Rohan contacted with the Utah State Bar, Office of Professional Conduct (the “OPC”). The OPC did not initiate public or private disability proceedings against Mr. Rohan however as a result of this contact, after discussions between Rohan, the OPC and members of the firm of Halliday & Watkins P.C., it was understood that members of Halliday & Watkins would voluntarily supervise Rohan in various aspects of his legal practice to insure that Rohan could practice law responsibly and ethically as the OPC has no mechanism available for informal supervision of an attorney. A:24:200-201.

10. Rohan filed his lawsuit on April 28, 1998 seeking damages for the injuries, including the closed head injury, sustained in the accident. A:1:1

11. Following the filing of the lawsuit, the parties initiated discovery, Boseman subpoenaed records from among others, the Utah State Bar. A:1:1-2

12. Bar Counsel opposed the subpoena on the grounds that it sought privileged material and filed a motion to quash on October 16, 1998. A:1:1



13. On December 11, 1998 the trial court issued a Minute Entry Ruling granting the “Ut. State Bar’s Objection to Subpoena, etc.” ruling that until Plaintiff supplies Defendant’s with an express waiver for materials sought from the Bar, the Plaintiff will be precluded from asserting claims as stated in the minute entry. A:1:2

14. On February 3, 1999 the Order on the Utah State Bar’s Objection to Subpoena was filed; On March 15, 1999 Rohan filed a certificate of service of discovery; On April 14, 1999 Boseman filed a certificate of service of discovery. On August 19, 1999, Rohan filed a Notice of Deposition of Jerald Boseman; On August 31, 1999 Rohan filed a Stipulation and Order on Protective Order; On September 30, 1999 Boseman filed a notice of deposition of Dr. Nord; On October 4, 1999 Boseman filed a notice of deposition of Mr. Rohan. A:1:2.

15. Despite the fact that the court docket reflected activity during 14 of 20 months since the complaint had been filed, the trial court, on October 28, 1999, on its own motion ordered the parties to appear on November 18, 1999 and show cause why the case should not be dismissed for failure to prosecute. A:1:2:

16. On November 18, 1999 the trial court continued its own order to show cause for 60 days for certification of readiness for trial; On January 19, 2000, Rohan, pursuant to the trial court’s order, filed his certification of readiness for trial. A:2:12:

17. On February 1, 2000, Boseman filed an Objection to Plaintiff’s Certificate of Readiness for Trial on the basis that there is ongoing discovery that had

not been completed, and requested 120 days to complete discovery. A:1:3, 3:15.

18. On February 2, 2000 the trial court scheduled a telephone scheduling conference to be held on March 2, 2000. At the March 2, 2000 conference, the discovery cutoff was set for May 26, 2000, the pretrial was set for June 5, 2000 and a jury trial was set for June 20, 2000, the trial court did not address the Boseman objection to the certification of readiness for trial. A:1:4-5.

19. Rohan attended a neuropsychological evaluation performed by the Boseman's expert, Elaine Clark PhD., on May 5, 2000. Dr. Clark's report was not faxed to Rohan until June 6, 2000, a day after the trial court had denied Rohan's first motion to continue and 10 days after discovery had closed. A:23:154.

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