2000

Joseph W. Rohan v. Chad Boseman, Jerald Boseman : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The trial court provided Plaintiff access and the method by which Rohan could acquire relief. The court made available to him every opportunity to retain the counsel of his choice. Moreover, the court delayed over two years in bringing Rohan's case to trial in order that Rohan, and the Defendants, could be prepared with the witnesses and exhibits necessary to

present their case. Plaintiff was given an opportunity to call witnesses and present evidence, even as late as the first morning of trial. It is not discriminatory for the trial court to expect Plaintiff to diligently prepare his case and to approach the court in a timely manner with any concerns as to representation.

3. Any Exclusion, Denial of Benefits or Discrimination Which Plaintiff Experienced Resulted From His Dilatory Conduct Not By Reason of His “Disability”.

The fact that Plaintiff’s June 19th motion for voluntary dismissal or continuance was denied by the court did not result from any exclusion of Rohan from the judicial process by reason of his disability. Instead, any lack of access to the process came about because Plaintiff was dilatory in preparing his case. Plaintiff cannot, therefore, meet the third requirement identified by the Tyler court needed to implement Title II of the ADA. Id., at 857 F.Supp. 800, 817 (D.Kan. 1994). The law imposes the burden of proof as to this element upon the Plaintiff. Id.

The fact that the court continued to provide Rohan access to the judicial process can be seen by the fact that the court presented him an opportunity to present his case on the morning of trial. Plaintiff’s response to the court was that he was unprepared to proceed.

Plaintiff has argued both to the trial court and this Court that his inability to proceed resulted from his lack of legal counsel. However, the record is crystal clear that Rohan’s lack of representation on the morning of trial resulted not because he was disabled but because he discharged his lawyers two weeks prior. His decision to terminate them was not because

of his disability or discrimination, but admittedly because his counsel had “limited jury trial experience” and lacked the experience required to “properly present his claims.” This decision by Plaintiff can hardly be suggested to be discriminatory conduct on the part of the trial judge.

Moreover, even on the morning of trial Plaintiff had the legal assistance necessary to proceed with the case. Halliday and Watkins were still of counsel to the case, having never been released by the Court. Further, the Plaintiff, notwithstanding his cries of disability, was still an “active” member of the Utah State Bar continuing to represent his own clients in legal proceedings. The indication to the trial court that the matter needed to be continued or dismissed resulted more from Plaintiff’s tactical predilections rather than any disability.

The fact of the matter is that Plaintiff simply failed to prepare. He made no effort to substitute counsel until just before trial when it would cause the greatest inconvenience to the court and the Bosemans. He terminated his original attorneys to intentionally inhibit his ability to present his case.

It is also important to consider Rohan’s allegations of prejudice under the ADA in light of the fact that he delayed until the day prior to trial to raise the issue with the trial court⁴. Other jurisdictions have imposed the requirement, even on the disabled, that the trial

⁴The trial court should take notice of the instructions by the trial court to the parties in this matter, including the Plaintiff, in the file note prepared following the March 2, 2000 pretrial. Those instructions state, “In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, individuals needing special accommodations. . . during this proceeding should call Third District Court. . .at least three working days prior to the proceeding.”

court be “timely” notified of any discriminatory result in trial procedure. For example, a Florida appellate court declared in an ADA case:

[U]nder state and federal disability laws, disabled persons are entitled to equal and meaningful access to the courts; however, in order to be accommodated such persons have the duty not only to make their disabilities known but also to inform the court when measures taken to remedy such obstacles are ineffective. The **law requires diligence of all parties to protect their rights – including the disabled** to the extent that they are capable of doing so.

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Gulisano, 722 So.2d 216, 218 (Fl. App. 1998)(emphasis added). Even though Plaintiff had attempted to continue and dismiss the case since the first part of June, he never indicated to the trial judge that he was entitled to relief under the ADA. The judge, therefore, could not even consider Plaintiff's ADA argument until the jury was in place on the morning of trial.

It is clear that Rohan cannot meet any of the requirements necessary for the Americans with Disabilities Act to apply in this case. This Court must, therefore, reject Plaintiff's argument that the trial court committed error or abused its discretion in denying his June 19th motion.

POINT II: THE TRIAL COURT PRESERVED PLAINTIFF'S DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS EVEN IN REJECTING HIS MOTIONS TO VOLUNTARILY DISMISS THE ACTION OR TO CONTINUE THE TRIAL DATE.

The Plaintiff, in addition to his other claims, alleges several state and federal constitutional violations. The tactic of including alleged constitutional violations is typical. This tactic is unjustified and unfair because it imposes too great a burden on the opposing

party, as well as the court. “[a] reviewing court is entitled to have the issues clearly defined with pertinent authority cited and is not simply a depository in which the appealing party may dump the burden of argument and research.” Jensen v. IHC Hospitals, Inc., 944 P.2d 327 (Utah 1997). This is precisely what the Plaintiff has done. He has alleged violations of due process, equal protection, the open courts provision, the uniform application of laws provision, as well as the fourteen amendment, but failed to support these allegations with any reasoning beyond the most basic generalities. It is, therefore, then left to the opposing party and the court to marshal applicable facts to provide reasoning one way or the other. In effect, this tactic allows the burden to be unjustifiably shifted, requiring the opposition to prove that everything was constitutional. Under such circumstances, the Utah Supreme Court has held that it “may refuse to address a claim of unconstitutionality where the party making the claim has failed to make the requisite showing to support the claim.” Id. This court should, as the court in Jensen did, “decline to address this issue as it is inadequately researched and briefed.” Id.

A. The Court Did Not Violate the Plaintiff’s Due Process or Equal Protection Rights.

Assuming that the Plaintiff’s allegations of constitutional violations are adequately researched and briefed in order to be addressed by the court, they are insufficient to show any constitutional violation.

First, there was no violation of the Plaintiff’s due process rights. The Plaintiff fails to cite the factors which make up due process, the Utah Supreme Court has held that:

[I]n depriving a person of life or liberty, the essentials of due process are: (a) the existence of a competent person, body, or agency, authorized by law to determine the questions; (b) an inquiry into the merits of the question by such person, body or agency; (c) notice to the person of the inauguration and purpose of the inquiry and the time at which such person to appear if he wishes to be heard; (d) right to appear in person or by counsel; (e) fair opportunity to submit evidence, examine and cross examine witnesses; (f) judgment to be rendered upon the record thus made. *In the absence of a statute laying down other or more specific requirements, the above conditions meet the demands of due process.*

Christiansen v. Harris, 163 P.2d 314, 317 (Utah 1945)(emphasis added). The Plaintiff has not alleged that any of these elements were not met, nor has he asserted that any statutorily created due process requirements have been violated. Rather, the Plaintiff merely argues that because the court did not accept his argument that the ADA applied in this matter his due process rights have been violated. This, he claims, “offend[s] the fundamental principle of fairness that underpins the judicial process.” (Appellants Brief, p.38). However, the ADA has not been violated and is inapplicable to these circumstances for the reasons previously identified.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Violate the Plaintiff’s Constitutional Right to an Open Court.

The Plaintiff’s next alleged constitutional violation involves the open courts provision of the Utah Constitution. This clause of the Utah Constitution states:

All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and not personal shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this state, by himself or counsel, any civil cause which he is a party.

Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 11. Again, the Plaintiff fails to indicate how this provision was violated, but merely states the “denial of his motions and the dismissal with prejudice with the imposition of fees and costs, under the facts of this case was neither fair, nor were the rules and procedures equally and uniformly applied.” (Appellant’s Brief, p.39). There is no explanation of why the denials were unfair nor is there an explanation showing that the rules and procedures were not uniformly applied.

Furthermore, “the courts have, however, always considered and treated [the open court’s provision], not as creating new rights, or as giving new remedies where none otherwise are given, but as placing a limitation upon *the legislature* to prevent that branch of the state government from closing the doors of the courts against any person who has a legal right which is enforceable in accordance with some known remedy.” Brown v. Wightman, 151 P.2d 366, 367 (Utah 1915)(emphasis added). There is no legislative limitation in question in this case, which is what the open courts provision restricts. No remedy available to the Plaintiff has been abrogated by the court or the legislature. As the court in Wightman said, “courts can only protect and enforce existing rights, and they may do that only in accordance with established and known remedies.” Id. at 367. The Plaintiff’s argument, therefore, is without foundation.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Violate the Plaintiff's Constitutional Right to Uniform Application of the Law, Nor Did the Court Violate the Plaintiff's Fourteenth Amendment Rights.

The Plaintiff now moves on to alleged violations of the uniform application of laws provisions of the Utah Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution. Importantly, the Utah Supreme Court in Whitmer v. City of Lindon, stated that “we have made clear that Utah’s uniform operation of the laws provision is ‘at least as exacting, and in some circumstances, more rigorous than the standard applied under the Federal constitution’ [citation omitted] therefore, ‘we need only determine whether the ordinances in question satisfy Article I, Section 24’ of the Utah Constitution. ‘If so, they will pass [Fourteenth Amendment] Federal muster.’” 943 P.2d 226, 230 (Utah 1997); Carrier v. Pro-Tech Restoration, 944 P.2d 346, 356 (Utah 1997). The Plaintiff’s uniform application of laws claim is unfounded, which necessarily makes the Fourteenth Amendment claim, likewise, unfounded.

Though the trial court found otherwise, the Plaintiff argues that he is disabled under the ADA. He then argues, as far as the Defendants can discern, that disabled people are discriminated against under Rule 4-105 and Rule 41. That is, however, as much explanation as the Plaintiff provides. He does not explain how disabled people are treated differently, which is a burden that he must meet. One who assails a legislative classification as arbitrary has the burden of proving it to be such. See, State v. J.B.&R.E. Walker, Inc., 100 UT 523, 116 P.2d 766 (1941). Furthermore, one page later, the Plaintiff specifically states that, in fact,

he was not treated differently than non-disabled people, stating: “the trial court even after becoming aware of the appellant’s circumstances treated him as any other litigant in spite of his reasonable request for a modification. . .” (Appellant’s Brief, p.41-42).

With such contradictory statements, it is difficult to understand exactly what is being argued. In the event, however, that the Plaintiff is arguing that he was treated differently than other disabled people, his argument is unpersuasive because it is unsupported by any facts.

**POINT III: THE TRIAL COURT ACTED APPROPRIATELY IN
DISMISSING PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE
WHEN PLAINTIFF FAILED AND REFUSED TO TIMELY
PROSECUTE THE MATTER.**

The trial court dismissal of Plaintiff’s case with prejudice and upon the merits was appropriate inasmuch as Plaintiff refused to prosecute the matter. It should be noted before proceeding further that this Court’s consideration of the trial court’s decision to dismiss the case with prejudice must be viewed independently from the trial court’s rejection of Plaintiff’s requests to dismiss without prejudice or to continue the trial. The trial court was still willing and did provide the Plaintiff an opportunity to prosecute the cause subsequent to its rejection of Plaintiff’s June 19th and earlier motions. Nevertheless, Plaintiff failed to move forward at trial.

This last action was that which resulted in the dismissal.

Utah case law is clear that the disposition of a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute rests entirely within the sound discretion of the trial court and such a decision will not be upset absent a showing of abuse of discretion. Grundmann v. Williams & Peterson,

685 P.2d 538 (Utah 1984); Wilson v. Lamber, 613 P.2d 765 (Utah 1980). Case law also supports the proposition that a dismissal for failure to prosecute may be with prejudice and considered an adjudication on the merits. Charlie Brown Const v. Leisure Sports, 740 P.2d 1368 (Utah App. 1987); Maxfield v. Rushton, 779 P.2d 237, 239 (Utah App. 1989).

The trial court record reflects that the Plaintiff's case was dismissed as a result of Plaintiff's failure to prosecute the same. See, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order and Judgment, Pgs. 336-346. The trial court's decision was appropriate considering the findings which it made. In evaluating the decision to dismiss with prejudice this Court should examine the following factors to see if the trial court abused its discretion. These factors include:

- (1) The time elapsed in the case prior to dismissal;
- (2) The opportunity each party had to move the case forward;
- (3) What each party had done to move the case forward;
- (4) What difficulty or prejudice may have been caused to the other side; and
- (5) Whether injustice may result from the dismissal.

Maxfield v. Rushton, 779 P.2d 237, 239 (Utah App. 1989). In evaluating all these factors from the findings which the trial court made in this matter, this Court must preserve the trial court's discretion in dismissing that matter for failing to prosecute.

The failure to prosecute which resulted in dismissal essentially occurred on the morning of trial. On that date, the parties appeared, and the record indicates that defense

counsel was present and prepared to proceed. The Plaintiff was not prepared and upon inquiry from the court refused to present his evidence.

Plaintiff was a party during the entire case. He had ample opportunity to prepare to case for trial. The record does not reflect any request that the Plaintiff made of the trial court to assist in trial preparation, prior to June 5, 2000, which was denied him. He was not restricted in any way from pursuing discovery, witnesses or testimony. Moreover, he was never inhibited from changing his legal counsel until he made the request a scant two and half weeks before trial.

The fact of the matter was that Plaintiff had prepared for trial, with the assistance of counsel Paul Halliday and Stephen Watkins. An examination of Rohan's witness and exhibit disclosures shows over twenty witnesses available to testify at trial as well as a number of documents. Yet, during the two year discovery period Plaintiff did not make the effort to acquire the one thing he claims he needed most, new trial counsel.

In a delayed effort to get the new counsel he needed the Plaintiff requested a continuance on June 2nd. This was appropriately denied as untimely. However, in a bizarre attempt to make the needed delay as important to the trial court as it was to him, Rohan discharged his counsel two weeks before trial. In his motions thereafter, Plaintiff attempted to argue that he could not proceed to try the case without assistance. The trial court, however, seeing that Plaintiff had or created his own crises, required Rohan to proceed with Halliday

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